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Chairman’s Overview

I’m pleased to present the Annual Report 
and Accounts for Masthaven Bank (“the 
Bank”) for the year ended 30 April 2017 
which encompasses the initial trading of 
the Bank following its successful launch 
into the UK bank market on  
28 November 2016. 

Masthaven is a UK lending and savings 
bank with an initial focus on residential 
property lending and digital retail savings 
products. We apply our specialist lending 
knowledge to the needs of underserved 
borrowers, and their intermediaries, 
enabling us to give excellent and 
responsive customer service, combined 
with technology for speed and simplicity. 
Masthaven’s focus for its savings 
customers is to build trust by offering 
a first-class service, ease of access and 
consistently good rates. The whole ethos 
of the Bank is designed to treat customers 
fairly, and make sure that it delivers what 
it promises. 

Masthaven is one of the UK’s newest 
specialist banks. Based in central London, 
it launched as a retail bank in 2016 and 
offers award-winning saving and lending 
products although the Masthaven team 
has provided a flexible and personalised 
approach to bridging loans and secured 
lending since 2004. 

In April 2016, the Bank achieved its 
retail banking licence and spent the 
subsequent months forming a strong 
team approaching 100 people, building its 
technology platform and road-testing its 
products with customers before launching 
in November. In the period to April 2017, 
the Bank has been chosen by 4,864 savings 
customers who have deposited £198 
million of balances and it has grown its 
loan balances to £156 million. This early 
progress demonstrates the attractiveness 
and fresh appeal of the Bank’s customer 
propositions. 

The loss for the year reflects the Bank only 
started trading from 28 November 2016 
and since launch has achieved a strong 
income trajectory and is performing in 
line with business expectations.

From a governance perspective, the 
Board has been focused on ensuring 
that the Bank’s governance and risk 
management practices, capital strength 
and infrastructure ensure the safeness 
and sustainability of the Bank and meet 
the standards of our regulators. These are 
covered in detail in the Strategic Report 
and Risk Management Review. 

The political developments of 2016 and 
2017 have introduced uncertainty into 
the economic environment. Tax and 
regulatory changes have been introduced 
in the property markets served by 
the Bank, and the Board is carefully 
monitoring the impact that these changes 
may have. It regularly runs scenario 
testing to ensure the robustness of its 
business in a range of different outcomes. 

In summary, the Board and I have worked 
especially hard this year to ensure that 
Masthaven achieves a safe and successful 
launch and, having done, so our focus is to 
invest for the long term to make the most 
of the significant opportunities available 
to the Bank. 

Finally I would like to thank all our 
people who have worked tirelessly during 
the year to deliver Masthaven Bank as 
the newest UK Retail Bank. Their hard 
work, commitment, customer focus and 
professionalism have delivered these 
results and they can be proud of what has 
been achieved so far.

Peter Harrison 
Chairman 
11 August 2017

Chief Executive’s Report

I am delighted to report as the CEO of a 
new entrant UK Bank, a Bank dedicated 
to meeting the real and individual needs 
of customers in its chosen lending and 
savings markets.

Masthaven has had a transformational 
2016 as the business was recognised as one 
of the top 1,000 fastest growing companies 
in Europe by the Financial Times and then 
followed this up with its banking launch 
on 28 November 2016. 

When I started Masthaven as a specialist 
lender in 2004 there have been a number 
of successes and some challenging times, 
particularly weathering the credit 
crunch, however I’ve remained steadfast 
in the principles I believe characterise 
successful businesses. These remain true 
today and have been the foundations 
upon which I, Jon Hall, and the team at 
Masthaven have built the Bank: 

•  focusing relentlessly on what 
customers’ demands are;

• attention to detail; and 

• effective communication. 

The Strategic Report provides the results 
that have been achieved in the year to 
30 April 2017 and a business overview; 
however, this period was all about 
providing a safe launch for the Bank 
and starting to demonstrate how our 
philosophy of ‘Human Digital Banking’ 
gives our customers a banking service 
that they value. This has been described 
by one of our early customers better than  
I ever could: 

This Annual Report is an early stepping 
stone as we focus on delivering diversified 
lending fit for customer needs and digital 
savings which provide competitive, 
consistent products with automation and 
self-service, all underpinned by a ‘human’ 
experience through the Bank. 

Andrew Bloom 
Chief Executive
11 August 2017

Mr A Ebrey 
Masthaven Bank Customer

You have effectively combined old  
and new, innovative and traditional,  
to end up with the best of both worlds 
in a harmonious balance
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The Directors present their Strategic 
Report of Masthaven Bank 
(“the Bank’’) for the year ended  
30 April 2017.

Key Highlights
Carefully Selected Markets

  Lending assets growth to £156m. 

  Deposits growth to £198m. 

  Total customers grow to 4,864 savings  
customers and 1,076 borrowers.

Valued Service Delivery
  Customer Satisfaction Index Score of 92%.

  Award-winning Lending and Savings Franchise.

Asset Quality & Sustainable Funding
  No bad debt losses.

  Blended cost of funding at 30 April 2017: 1.61%.

A Valued Partnership Model
  Staff engagement 85%.

  80% of qualifying staff have share options 
under an HMRC approved Company Share 
Option Plan.

Strategic Report

3

Business Model
The business model of Masthaven Bank is 
focused on providing specialist lending 
into selected market segments which are 
typically underserved by the larger UK 
banks and where the Bank can develop 
strong customer relationships, including 
repeat business. By applying expertise 
and skilled underwriting techniques, the 
Bank is able to achieve good returns on its 
lending. Through a deposit model utilising 
a centralised in-house administration 
capability, the Bank is able to achieve 
low cost and reliable funding. Customer 
segments selected are those offering 
sustainable growth and through the cycle 
earnings potential. This is supported by 
a commitment to long-term customer 
relationships backed by high quality 
service delivery.

Our promise to customers is to be ‘here 
to help’, provide ‘honest expertise’ and 
deliver ‘attention to detail’. Through these 
commitments we help our customers 
borrow and save money in ways that work 
for them.

Our model is underpinned by a 
commitment to strong disciplines of risk 
management, regulatory compliance 
and governance. Risk appetite and 
culture are set by the Board to ensure the 
appropriate tone from the top. Ours is a 
people business and it is our people who 
ultimately differentiate our proposition.

Business and Financial Review
The Bank activities for the year to 30 
April 2017 are the provision of residential 
and buy to let second mortgages, secured 
bridging lending, development finance 
and savings products within the single 
brand of ‘Masthaven’.

As shown in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on Page 37, the 
loss after taxation for the year moved 
from £1.3m to £5.5m. The drivers for 
the increased loss were completing the 
mobilisation period prior to the launch 
of the Bank on 28 November 2016 and 
the start-up losses for the year to 30 April 
2017. The Bank is performing in line with 
expectations in the period.

From its launch the Bank has generated 
revenue of £4m from interest and other 
income and net interest income of £3m 
from which is charged £1m associated 
with amortising the fair value premium 
on loan books acquired in the year. 
Administration expenses of £8.8m include 
£2.9m for the period pre-launch and £5.9m 
for the period post-launch. 

The net assets of the Bank increased from 
£1.7m to £19.2m. This increase resulted 
from the capital injection of £23m less the 
retained loss movement of £5.5m for the 
full year. Post year end, a further £5m of 
capital has been injected by the existing 
shareholders as part of the Bank’s  
capital plan.

From November 2016, the Bank has 
demonstrated a safe launch into its 
chosen markets as demonstrated by 
the achievement of 5,940 customers 
along with positive press reflecting its 
appearance in best buy tables but also 
the freshness of its offering. During the 
period the Bank has assessed its Savings 
Customer Satisfaction Index through 
FEEFO Ratings and it has received a rating 
of 4.6/5 for Service and 4.5/5 for Product. 
The Bank is extending its FEEFO Ratings to 
lending in 2017. 
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In its first trading period the Bank  
has also been recognised for its Flexible 
Term Saver account with the  
Moneynet.co.uk award for Most  
Innovative Savings Provider.

The Bank has originated loans of £65m 
and acquired loans of £114m during the 
year. Asset quality is strong with low 
arrears, no losses and an average LTV of 
48.6% on Bridging Finance and 49.6% on 
mortgages. After the year end the Bank 
has launched into the residential and 
buy to let mortgage market with a range 
of products developed to better meet the 
needs of today’s borrowers. The acquired 
portfolios were a mix of bridging finance 
and second mortgages originated by 
Masthaven Group and Masthaven Secured 
Loans Group on an arm’s length basis by 
the Bank following an independent due 
diligence process.

The Bank has received £198m in retail 
deposits and holds total liquidity of 29%, 
when comparing cash and treasury assets 
to deposit balances. The Bank’s Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio is 882%. It is intended that 
the Bank will continue to be funded by 
customer deposits and will develop its 
range of savings products in 2017.

The Bank has maintained capital above 
all regulatory capital ratios throughout 
the year by holding a buffer above the 
minimum requirement and continuing  
to successfully raise additional capital in 
line with its plan and to support balance 
sheet growth.

Future Developments
The Bank will continue to explore 
opportunities to diversify its retail 
funding base, seeking out new products, 

markets and distribution opportunities 
while recognising that the Bank is 
excellently positioned to serve the needs of 
savers for whom the savings market often 
does not work well, particularly those 
with long-standing accounts.

The Bank has launched into the mortgage 
market post year end which enables 
the Bank to offer a diversified range 
of lending products in mortgages, 
second mortgages, bridging finance and 
development finance from which it can 
deliver a range of distinctive lending 
solutions and strong customer outcomes. 

Principal and Emerging Risks
The Bank’s activities inherently may result 
in a number of risks, primarily credit risk, 
liquidity and funding risk, market risk, 
strategic risk, conduct risk, operational 
risk, cyber risk and the risk of non-
compliance with regulation. In addition, 
political and economic risk notably 
arising from current uncertainties. The 
Bank’s principal and emerging risks are 
identified through the risk process defined 
within the Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework and are managed through the 
governance structure which is outlined in 
the Governance Report. 

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of 
Directors and signed on its behalf by:

 Jon Hall 
 Managing  
 Director
 11 August 2017

Customer
Year Ended 

30 April 2017
Commentary

Number of Savings Customers 4,864 4 In line with business expectation

Number of Lending Customers 1,076 4 In line with business expectation

FEEFO Customer Satisfaction
4.6/5 Service 
4.5/5 Product

4 In line with business expectation

Number of Complaints 29 4 In line with business expectation

Referred to FOS / Upheld Nil 4 In line with business expectation

Commercial
Year Ended 

30 April 2017
Commentary

Value of Lending Portfolio £156m 4 In line with business expectation

Deposits Held £198m 4 In line with business expectation

Net Interest Margin 10.30%
4 In line with business expectations excludes 

 amortisation of acquired portfolios

Cost Income Ratio 179% 4 In line with business expectation

Profit / (Loss) After Tax (£5.5m) 4 In line with business expectation

Return on Equity n/a To be reported in year ended April 2018

Liquidity 29% 4 In line with Liquidity Plan

CET1 Ratio 17% 4 In line with Liquidity Plan

Colleague
Year Ended 

30 April 2017
Commentary

Turnover of People 1.6% 4 Better than business expectation

Colleague Engagement 85% 4 Survey conducted in October 2016

Control
Year Ended 

30 April 2017
Commentary

Mortgage Arrears % 
Bridging Arrears %

1.30% (11 cases) 
4.27% (17 cases) 

4 Number greater than 3 months 
4 Arrears are on acquired portfolios

Lending LTV
Bridging 48.6% 

Mortgages 49.6%
4 In line with business expectation.

Key Performance Indicators
The Bank measures its performance against a balanced set of 
indicators covering Customer, Commercial, Colleague and Control.
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Risk Management Review
Effective risk management is at 
the heart of the Bank’s operations, 
supporting the delivery of the business 
strategy through a well-articulated and 
measurable statement of risk appetite 
that is integral to key decisions and the 
management of risk and control. The 
Bank has implemented an Enterprise 
Risk Management Framework, supported 
through the three lines of defence, that 
sets out the high level policy, standards 
and requirements for the management of 
all risks across the Bank, as shown below.

During 2016, the Bank invested heavily in 
people, processes and training to build the 
foundations for a strong, integrated Risk 
Management Framework that supports 
the Board and the business in achieving 
the Bank’s strategic objectives. This 

journey will continue throughout 2017 
as the Bank moves into the first full year 
operating as a Bank. Masthaven’s Board 
recognises the importance of a solid risk 
culture within the organisation and its 
responsibility for setting the ‘tone from 
the top’. Key to this is the training and 
support of our people to put the customer 
at the heart of everything we do, ensuring 
that we are at all times acting in the best 
interest of customers to ensure the right 
customer outcome.

Governance Report

Risk Culture
Having the right culture is an integral 
part of Masthaven’s approach to risk. 
The Bank has a simple business model 
which is led by the executive team with 
the calibre and breadth of knowledge 
across banking, lending, customer service, 
regulation and risk required to operate 
the Bank in line with its strategic plan. 
Within the Bank, risk culture is defined 
as “the system of values and behaviours 
present throughout the organisation that 
shape risk decisions” and is embodied in a 
series of statements to which all directors, 
management and staff are committed:

We are conscientious about  
managing Risk. Regardless of our role,  
we each try to make the Bank better  
at managing Risk. We put the Bank’s  
needs ahead of our own.

We take appropriate risks. We understand 
that the Bank cannot provide a valuable 
service without taking good risks and 
managing them well every day.

We share a common language and 
framework for managing the Bank’s Risks. 
We communicate with balance. We share 
both positive and negative news openly, 
transparently, and without bias or spin.

We communicate clearly. We use plain 
language that can be understood without 
being an expert.

Risk Strategy
Masthaven Bank pursues strategies 
that are resilient, sustainable and that 
optimise the risk adjusted return to 
Shareholders earned from capital. 

The strategic risk management objectives 
have been designed to support the 
business in delivery of the right outcomes 
for customers through the six core 
competencies we associate with  
customer satisfaction:

  Using individualised attention to 
drive an emotional connection

  Minimising customer effort, be 
flexible, create frictionless processes

  Managing, meeting and exceeding 
customer expectations 

  Turning a poor experience into  
a great one 

  Being trustworthy and  
engendering trust 

  Understanding a customer’s 
circumstances to drive deep rapport

The strategic risk management objectives 
are to:

(i)  Make Masthaven Resilient by 
ensuring the Bank:

 remains conscious of its risks;

  remains conscious of its weaknesses;

  does not overstretch its capacity to 
manage and absorb risk;

  takes prompt, effective action to 
control mortal threats to the Bank 
and customers; and 

  adopts a progressive and transparent 
risk culture.

(ii)  Maximise Shareholder Value by 
helping the Bank to:

  understand the drivers of risk and 
shareholder value, and the linkages 
between them ever more deeply  
and precisely;

  understand the costs of controlling 
these risks and the impact of controls 
on shareholders;

  identify and anticipate changes in 
these dynamics sooner and more 
reliably;

  use knowledge and understanding  
to build perspective and consensus 
for action.

Risk Culture

Tone from the top
Skills and Resources

Behaviours

Risk Governance  
and Control

Risk Governance
Risk Categorisation

Risk Polocy

Risk Testing  
and Planning

Scenario Planning
Stress Testing

Contingency Planning

Risk Strategy

Risk Appetite
Risk Strategy

Risk Measurement

Risk Methodology
Risk-based Performance

Measurement
Risk Reporting
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(iii)  Minimise Loss and Damage to the 
Bank by:

  building powerful, stable and 
efficient policies, models and 
controls;

   reacting quickly and effectively to 
every threat or incident; 

   ensuring controls operate effectively 
at all times; and

 constantly striving to improve.

Risk Governance and Control
Ultimate responsibility for risk sits with 
the Board, with oversight delegated 
to the Board Risk, Audit, Conduct and 
Compliance Committee. 

Accountability and responsibility for 
risk management is delegated to the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Risk Officer under the Senior Managers 
Regime, and they provide oversight of 
risk through a number of management 
committees, including Credit Committee, 

Asset and Liability Committee, Executive 
Risk, Conduct and Compliance Committee 
and Product Committee which report 
into the Management and Operations 
Committee. Responsibility for the  
day-to-day management of risk rests  
with all employees within the Bank.

The management committees monitor 
business performance against risk 
appetite, monitor and report on risk 
policy and methodology and challenge 
and propose changes to the established 
risk management approach where 
appropriate. Each committee is 
responsible for satisfying itself that 
no material changes in risk levels and 
profiles have occurred or are planned. 

How do we categorise risk?
We use the following key risk categories to organise our risk management activities 
across the Bank:

Funding Risk • Liquidity • Capital

Credit & Concentration • Credit • Concentration

Conduct • Governance & Culture • Product and Service

Strategic • Strategic
• Earnings

• Business

Market • Market
• Interest Rate

• Pension Risk

Operational • Financial Reporting
• Regulatory
• Third Party
• Technology
• Information Security
• Fraud & Financial Crime
• People

• Legal
• Premises & Security
•  Payments, Transaction  

and Processing
• Product Management
• Transformation
• Model Risk

How do we manage risk?
The Bank adopts the three lines of defence model of risk management. This informs 
the governance structure and the allocation of individual responsibilities as  
shown below.

Risk Category
First Line  
of Defence

Second Line  
of Defence

Committee  
Oversight

Third Line  
of Defence

Funding Risk
Treasury  

and Finance
Risk Management ALCO

Internal Audit 
Deloitte

Credit and  
Concentration

Credit Management 
in Long and Short 

Term Lending 
Terms

Risk Management Liquidity

Conduct
All Teams  

and Employees
Compliance

Executive Risk, 
Conduct and 
Compliance 
Committee

Strategic
CEO and  

Executive Team
Risk Management  

and Finance
ExCo

Market Treasury Risk Management ALCO

Operational
All Teams  

and Employees
Operational Risk

Executive Risk, 
Conduct and 
Compliance 
Committee

Board and Risk, Audit, Conduct and Compliance Committee

Masthaven Bank Limited 
Governance Structure

Chief Executive

Risk, Audit, 
Conduct and 
Compliance

Remuneration and 
Nominations

Credit 
Committee

Asset and Liability 
Committeee

Product 
Committee

IT Steering 
Committee

Executive Risk, Conduct 
and Compliance Committee

Board

Management 
and Operations 

Committee (ExCo)
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First Line of Defence – Risk Control

The first line of defence describes the 
business operations with responsibility 
for undertaking the day-to-day business 
of the Bank. These operations design 
controls into systems and processes and 
ensure that all key risks within business 
operations are identified, mitigated and 
controlled within risk appetite.

Second Line of Defence – Risk Oversight

The second line of defence describes 
the functions, officers and committees 
that are in place to provide oversight 
of the management of risk and the 
effective operation of the internal control 
framework. Their role in particular is 
to challenge the first line activities and 
oversee performance against the risk 
appetite of the Bank as determined by the 
Board. Within Masthaven these functions 
sit under the Chief Risk Officer and  
consist of risk management, financial 
crime, compliance, legal and  
corporate governance. 

Third Line of Defence – Audit

This describes the independent assurance 
provided by Internal Audit. This third line 
of defence entails independent challenge 
through audit of key controls and wider 
assurance activities across both the first 
and second line of defence.

Risk Appetite
The risk appetite statement established 
by the Board establishes a framework for 
business decision and enables Masthaven 
to identify and define the type and levels 
of risks it is willing to accept in both 
qualitative and quantitative terms, and to 
articulate the risks the Bank is willing to 
take and those it will not in pursuit of its 
strategic goals.

The following principles are the 
foundations of the Bank’s risk appetite:

  Reflect the distinctive strategy and 
culture of the firm and how this 
compares to peers.

  Focus on manageable forward-
looking measures of risk.

  Include qualitative description, 
quantitative measures and prescribed 
‘Dos and Don’ts’.

  Be communicated throughout the 
organisation in a way that enables 
individuals to see how risk appetite 
influences the way they do their job.

The risk appetite measures form part of 
the reporting to the Board Risk Audit, 
Conduct and Compliance Committee, the 
Executive Risk Committee, ALCO, Credit 
Committee and the Management and 
Operations Committee. Any breach  
of Board Risk Appetite is treated as a  
risk incident and reported to the Chief 
Risk Officer.

Principal Risks
The Bank’s activities inherently 
may result in a number of risks, the 
management of these is detailed below.

Cyber Risk

Cybersecurity is about the management 
of cyber risk. It recognises that security 
needs to go beyond systems, software 
or IT departments and procedures and 
into protocols for governance oversight, 
culture, risk identification, protection, 
detection, response and recovery. 

Masthaven has invested a significant 
amount of time and effort ensuring that 
we both understand and mitigate the 
cyber risk inherent in our business. 

We continue to invest in our IT 
infrastructure, resilience and security, 
as well as focusing on our people and the 
security of our physical environment to 
counter the ever increasing level of threat.

Funding Risk 

Funding risk at Masthaven covers 
Liquidity Risk and Capital Risk. It is the 
risk that Masthaven is unable to maintain 
its capital levels at a sufficient level to 
meet its Business Plan and regulatory 
requirements or is unable to make 
available sufficient resources to meet its 
current and future financial obligations 
as they fall due or is only able to do so at  
a premium cost.

Risk Appetite 
Objectives

Business Stability

Liquidity Risk

Capital Risk

Market Risk

Strategic Risk

Financial 
Reporting

Lending  
Short Term

Lending  
Long Term

Book 
Performance 
Short Term

Book 
Performance 

Long Term

Product 
Management

Conduct Rule 
Breaches

Complaints

Customer 
Satisfaction

Regulatory Status

Losses

Third Party

Fraud and  
Financial Crime

Information 
Technology

People

Information 
Security

Legal

Premises and 
Security

Payments 
Transaction

Processing

Transformation

Model Risk

Sustained Fall in Mortgage Lending

Sustained Fall in NIM and Basis Risk

Housing Market Crash

Housing Market Crash and Mortgage Default Rates

Default Treasury Assets

Run on the Bank

Catastrophic BCP/DR

System Regulatory/Conduct Issue

Reputational Risk

Stress Testing

Credit and 
Concentration

Conduct and 
Compliance

Operational Risk

T
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Second Line of Defence

Oversight
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The Board Risk Appetite Statements are subject to annual review and may be 
revisited more frequently when appropriate. The core components of risk appetite 
for the Bank are:
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The Board requires that:

  Management should maintain 
sufficient capital reserves to 
satisfy current and foreseeable 
regulatory and internal (economic) 
requirements. 

  Management should be self-sufficient 
for capital over-the-cycle. 

  Management should ensure stability 
of earnings through focus on 
recurrent sources of income.

  As a consequence we will manage 
business growth to rates at which we 
can satisfy these requirements.

  Management should maintain 
sufficient liquidity resources in order 
to maintain a surplus to anticipated 
requirements during internally and 
regulatory prescribed stress events.

  Management should monitor and 
maintain stable sources of funding 
and should seek to prevent the 
build-up of excessive funding 
concentrations. 

Liquidity Risk 

The Bank’s liquidity management strategy 
is documented through the Internal 
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ILAAP) supported by the Treasury Policy 
and the Liquidity Contingency Policy. 

The Board has responsibility for setting 
and approving liquidity risk appetite 
and monitoring limits to ensure an 
appropriate liquid asset buffer is 
maintained under normal and  
stressed conditions. 

Daily monitoring is undertaken in 
the Treasury team to ensure the Bank 
remains within the approved limits.

The Bank has conducted a series of severe, 
but plausible, stress tests to ensure  
that the Bank can continue to meet its 
capital obligations. 

Capital Risk 

There is a comprehensive capital 
management plan in place, driven 
through the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) which 
ensures appropriate capital and leverage 
ratios are maintained.

The Bank has conducted a series of severe, 
but plausible, stress tests to ensure that 
the Bank can continue to meet its  
capital obligations. 

Market Risk 

Market Risk is the risk of changes in value 
of positions held on and off balance sheet 
caused by adverse movements in market 
prices, interest rates, market volatility, 
and credit spreads.

The Board requires that management 
should take only those market risks 
that are required to support its primary 
business lines i.e. no trading book risks, 
and hedging strategies designed to 
neutralise structured exposure to  
re-pricing risk and basis risk.

Masthaven Bank does not have a  
trading book.

The Board approves risk appetite for  
re-pricing risk and basis risk. 

The balance sheet is analysed monthly 
for both re-pricing risk and basis risk and 
reported against risk appetite to ALCO 
monthly, with oversight provided  
by the Risk, Audit, Conduct and 
Compliance Committee. 

Credit and Concentration Risk 

Credit and Concentration risk is the risk 
that a customer or counterparty is unable 
to honour its obligations as they fall due, 
resulting in an actual or potential loss 
exposure for the Bank. These are split 
between Retail and Treasury categories 
or the risk of an unexpected increase in 
credit related losses as a result of a lack of 
diversification of a credit portfolio.

The Board requires that:

  Management should ensure that 
new lending decisions on all major 
portfolios earn an adequate return  
for the risks taken, most notably  
credit risk.

  Management should ensure that  
1-in-20 year stressed losses from 
lending portfolios remain less than  
the normalised return expected from 
the portfolio. 

  Management should ensure that asset 
quality remains credible to investors 
and consistent with Masthaven’s 
business strategy. 

Masthaven has adopted the standardised 
approach to credit risk across the prime 
markets it operates in, specialist lending 
in Bridging and Development Finance and 
long-term second charge lending. 

Masthaven maintains prudent lending 
criteria with an LTV product risk limit of 
no lending above 80% on a secured basis.

There is a robust lending policy, 
responsible lending policy and  
arrears and collections policy in place 
to support extensive and thorough 
underwriting and credit sanctioning 
processes and procedures.

There is effective, well established 
credit risk sanctioning processes with 
independent oversight by the Risk 
Management function. 

Masthaven Bank is exposed to credit 
risk in connection with its treasury 
and liquidity assets held. Failure of a 
wholesale counterparty could result 
in a material loss. The Treasury Policy 
requires a significant holding in zero 
risk weighted assets particularly UK 
government issued assets. Treasury lines 
of credit are reviewed monthly by ALCO 
against an approved credit ratings policy.

Conduct Risk 

Conduct Risk is the risk that Masthaven 
Bank acts in a way that delivers adverse 
outcomes for customers and therefore 
not in accordance with the requirements/
principles of Treating Customers Fairly.

The Board requires that the Bank 
maintains a low tolerance to significant 
Conduct Risk events and restricts its 
activities to areas of established expertise, 
with any potential exposures being 
proportionate to the size and scale of 
its operations and not exceeding those 
quantified within its risk assessments.

Masthaven has no tolerance for customers 
suffering detriment as a result of non-
compliance with laws, regulations or 
regulatory principles. We have risk 
appetite measures defined which monitor 
whether the right products are sold to 
customers, complaints, product reviews, 
customer satisfaction and incentives are 
driving the right behaviours.

Employee training and awareness is 
carried out as part of the conduct rules 
roll out, senior managers regime  
training and the 12 months of risk 
awareness programme. 
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The scale and pace of regulatory change 
across the industry continues. The Board 
and Executive receive weekly updates on 
the areas impacting Masthaven to ensure 
the Bank understands the impact on the 
customer and our strategic objectives.  

Strategic Risk 

Strategic Risk is the risk that income/
returns fluctuate adversely due to 
changes in economic conditions or other 
factors or the risk associated with future 
business plans and strategies including 
increasing/decreasing lending, plans for 
new products, enhancing infrastructure, 
and material changes in external 
environment.

The Board requires that:

  The Bank focuses its activities 
on services for shareholders by 
operating in financial services. 

  The Bank focuses its activities in  
the UK. 

  The Bank will ensure its activities  
treat customers and employees 
morally and ethically. 

  The Bank has no appetite and is 
not permitted to undertake any of 
the following:

 • Non-Sterling mortgages

 • Unsecured lending

 •  Lending secured other than on 
bricks and mortar (unless as 
additional security)

From a macroeconomic perspective 
Masthaven Bank has already considered 
many of the possible impacts of the UK’s 
decision to leave the European Union and 
the impacts on its customers, products, 
employees and suppliers which could 
require positive action. Whilst continued 
uncertainty prevails, all potential impacts 
continue to be monitored and mitigated 
where appropriate.

The Bank regularly monitors the 
competitive market to both understand 
and assess the impact of market 
movements, particularly in the specialist 
lending and challenger bank arena.  
This is then regularly reviewed as part of 
the Board annual review of strategy and 
risk appetite.

As part of the formation of the ICAAP the 
Bank has conducted a series of severe, but 
plausible, stress tests to ensure that the 
Bank can continue to meet its objectives. 
These are crucial tools in the management 
of strategic risk.

Operational Risk 

Operational Risk is the risk of  
Incurring losses, or other significant 
impact, resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, people or 
systems or from external events. This 
includes legal risk and reputational risk. 
It also includes the risk of financial loss, 
reputational damage, or censure from 
changes to existing requirements by 
regulatory authorities that negatively 
impact the Bank.

The Board requires that:

Management maintain minimal risk of 
serious customer or business disruption 
and reputational impact. By implication it 
is accepted that a modest level of business 
and customer disruption will occur in 
the course of maintaining a dynamic and 
efficient business. The Executive Risk 
Compliance Committee will monitor such 
disruption by reviewing the Incident and 
Loss Data Reporting information and will 
prompt appropriate action where the level 
is considered unacceptable.

Masthaven Bank will aim to comply 
with all applicable laws, regulations and 
voluntary codes/standards responsibly, 
focusing on achieving the best outcome 
for the Masthaven Bank shareholders  
and customers.

Masthaven Bank will not be subject to 
any event that could result in formal 
regulatory censure (fine, withdrawal of 
trading, material customer redress) or 
serious financial or reputational damage. 
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The Bank assesses its operational risk exposure against 13 core categories:

Financial 
Reporting Risk

The risk of damage to the Bank as a result of loss or failure 
arising from the operational risks associated with the 
publication of the financial statements, adherence to 
accounting standards, compliance with tax laws and codes, 
maintenance of the general ledger and management of 
financial resources.

Regulatory Risk The risk of damage, loss, fine or censure for the Bank as 
a result of failure to fulfil and meet current Regulatory 
requirements or as a result of changes to regulation. 

Third Party Risk The risk of damage arising from inappropriate buying 
decisions (including outsourcing, off-shoring and joint 
ventures), setting up a contract, management of a 3rd Party 
and uncontrolled spend or buying or arising from the failure 
of a supplier.

Technology Risk The risk of damage as a result of loss or failure arising from 
technology services not supporting business objectives due to 
performance, availability and/or functionality.

Information 
Security Risk

The risk of damage to the Bank, its customers and employees 
as a result of loss or failure arising from the inadequate design 
or failure to apply appropriate security controls. This applies 
to the Confidentiality, Integrity and Availability of the Bank’s 
customers, employees or corporate data in line with corporate 
risk appetite or legal obligation.

Fraud and 
Financial Crime 
Risk

The risk of loss or damage to the Bank or its customers due 
to acts of fraud or dishonesty, or in relation to the misuse of 
information, money laundering or bribery and corruption.

Legal Risk The risk of loss to the Bank that is primarily caused by a 
defective transaction; or a claim (including a defence to a 
claim or a counterclaim) being made or some other event 
occurring which results in a liability for the institution or 
other loss (for example, as a result of the termination of a 
contract) or failing to take appropriate measures to protect 
assets (for example, intellectual property) owned by the Bank 
or a change in law.

Premises and 
Security Risk

The risk of damage as a result of loss or failure arising from 
criminal prosecution, injury or losses arising as a consequence 
of a failure to ensure that premises and physical assets are 
fully compliant, effectively maintained and in good working 
order, or that they are adequately secured and protected.

Payments, 
Transaction and 
Processing Risk

The risk of damage to the Bank as a result of failed or 
inconsistent execution or management of customer  
facing processes.

Product 
Management 
Risk

The risk of damage or loss resulting from the inadequate or 
inappropriate design or maintenance of Product. The loss or 
damage may be either directly to the Bank or as a result of an 
inappropriate customer offering. 

Model Risk The risk of damage or loss resulting from decisions that are 
made, and acted upon, based upon the output of a model where 
the output is subsequently identified as being inaccurate due 
to errors or inaccuracies in the design or maintenance of  
the model.

Transformation 
Risk

The risk of loss or damage arising from the ineffective 
application of the change management process. The loss or 
damage may result in operational inefficiencies or failure 
to achieve the business case. This excludes variations due to 
strategic decision making. 

People Risk The risk of damage to the Bank as a result of loss or failure 
due to our inability to recruit, develop, reward and retain the 
required people resources.

Management of Operational Risk is 
supported by a suite of tools, procedures, 
guidance and templates.

The key elements are:

  Risk Identification (including Risk 
and Control Assessments)

 Incident and Loss Reporting

 Key Risk Indicators

 Operational Risk Reporting

The Board, Board Risk, Audit, Conduct 
and Compliance Committee and relevant 
management committees receive regular 

reports on the full range of operational 
risks, incidents that have occurred in the 
business and any losses. 

The launch of the Bank in November 2016 
led to a period of significant change across 
technology, payments, product and people 
and although there were a number of 
operational risk incidents, none of these 
were material in nature and appropriate 
actions were taken to mitigate the risk.  
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The Board of Directors considers that 
effective corporate governance is a key 
factor underlying the strategies and 
operations of Masthaven. Although the 
Bank does not have any listed equity, the 
Bank has voluntarily opted to comply 
with the principles of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (the “Code”). 

The Board of Directors 
The Bank is controlled by its Board of 
Directors whose duties, codified in the UK 
Companies Act 2006, are to: 

  Act in good faith and within the 
powers conferred by the Bank’s 
constitution. 

  Promote the success of the Bank for 
the benefit of stakeholders. 

  Exercise independent judgment when 
making decisions. 

  Exercise reasonable care, skill  
and diligence. 

 Avoid conflict of interest.  

  Declare interests in proposed 
transactions or arrangements. 

  Not accept benefits from third 
parties.  

In addition, the Board has the ultimate 
responsibility for ensuring that the Bank 
has systems of corporate governance 
and internal control appropriate to 
the business environment in which it 
operates. The Board regularly evaluates 
all risks affecting the business and the 
processes put in place in the business to 
control them. 

The Board is responsible for the 
appropriate constitution of Committees of 
the Board and reviews their activities and 
terms of reference as part of an annual 
review of corporate governance. Within 
the financial and overall objectives 
for the Bank there is a clear division of 
responsibilities between the running of 
the Board which is the role of the Chair 
and the executive responsibility for the 
running of the Bank which is overseen 
by the CEO. The Chair is responsible for 
the leadership of the Board and ensuring 
that it remains effective whilst the CEO is 
responsible for the management of 
the Bank. 

Non-Executive Directors (NEDs)  
The NEDs fulfil key roles in corporate 
and regulatory accountability. The Board 
considers three of its four current NEDs 
to be independent because they have no 
material business relationship with the 
Bank (either directly or as a partner, 
shareholder or officer of an organisation 
that has a relationship with the Bank) and 
they neither represent the shareholders 
nor have any involvement in the day-to-
day management of the Bank.  

As such they bring objectivity and 
independent judgement to the Board, 
which complements the Executive 
Directors’ skills, experience and detailed 
knowledge of the business. Moreover, 
they play a vital role in the governance 
of the Bank through their membership of 
the Risk Audit, Conduct and Compliance 
Committee and the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee. The Board 
considers that the balance of skills 
and experience is appropriate for the 
requirements of the Bank’s business and 
that the balance between Non-Executive 
and Executive Directors allows the 
Board to exercise challenge and effective 
decision making.

Each NED is provided, upon appointment, 
with a comprehensive induction and 
a letter setting out the terms of his or 
her appointment, the fees to be paid 
and the time commitment expected 
from the Director. The letter also covers 
such matters as the confidentiality of 
information and reference to the Bank’s 
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance. 

All independent NEDs are appointed to 
the Risk Audit, Conduct and Compliance 
Committee and the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee. 

The appointment of a NED is for an 
initial term of three years, renewable 
for a second term of up to three years 
on mutual agreement. In certain 
circumstances a further term of up to 
three years may be agreed. The Board 
reviews the number of Executive 
Directors and NEDs to maintain an 
appropriate balance for effective control 
and direction of the business. Presently, 
the Bank’s Board is composed of six 
members, two executive directors and 
four NEDs, of whom three are deemed to 
be independent. 

The role of all the NEDs is to: 

  Constructively challenge and  
help develop proposals on the  
Bank’s strategy.  

  Scrutinise the performance of 
management in meeting agreed 
targets of performance and monitor 
the reporting of performance. 

  Review and give an objective opinion 
on the Bank’s financial reporting 
including relevant best practice. 

  Maintain effective working 
relationships with the FCA, the PRA, 
and the Bank’s auditors. 

  Provide an objective insight into the 
strategic direction of the Bank and an 
advisory role on intended strategic 
actions and potential implications for 
the business. 

  Review the application of financial 
reporting and understand the Bank’s 
financial position and constructively 
challenge its effective management. 

  Provide other Board members with 
different perspectives on strategic 
and other issues facing the Bank. 

Selection of Directors 
Specialist executive recruitment agencies 
may be employed to find suitable NEDs. In 
addition, direct appointments are made 
where specific skills and experience are 
needed, and the Bank may consult other 
professional advisers on appropriate 
candidates when specialist financial skills 
are required. Formal interviews are held 
with Senior Bank Management before a 
preferred candidate meets other members 
of the Board.

The Bank’s Directors are part of the Senior 
Managers Regime and new appointments 
are subject to FCA and PRA approval.

Committees of the Board  
Three Committees report directly into 
the Board. Each of the Committees has 
specific delegated authority; this is 
detailed in the committees’ terms of 
reference which are reviewed annually. 
The Board reviews the composition of the 
Committees regularly to ensure that there 
is an appropriate balance and a good mix 
of skills and experience. The Bank has an 
integrated approach to risk governance 
and the terms of reference for each of the 
Committees shown below includes details 
of the risks covered. 

Corporate Governance Report
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Board Effectiveness
The Senior Managers Regime, introduced 
in March 2016 by the PRA and the FCA, 
plays a vital role in ensuring that the 
Board focus on the key areas of culture 
and governance. As part of the scheduled 
annual review of the Board an assessment 
is planned to be completed by the end of 
2017 looking at:

  Board composition, role, skills, 
training, diversity, balance  
and experience.

  Board leadership and culture in 
alignment with the Senior  
Managers regime.

  Clarity of Accountability and  
decision making.

  Board communications and 
management information.

  Oversight of business strategy  
and the Enterprise Risk  
Management Framework.

 Meeting structures and effectiveness.

Risk Audit, Conduct and 
Compliance Committee (“RACC”)
The RACC, chaired by Anne Gunther, 
is a delegated committee of the Board 
providing oversight of the development 
of a comprehensive risk management 
strategy and framework and ensures 
adequate oversight of the Bank’s 
systems and controls and risks facing 
the Bank, including market, credit, 
liquidity, regulatory, financial crime and 
conduct risk, financial reporting and 
monitoring the effectiveness of internal 
and external audits. The Committee 
receives reports and information 
covering Credit Committee, Asset and 
Liability Committee and Executive Risk, 
Conduct and Compliance Committee. The 
Committee convenes every quarter and is 
composed of all the NEDs with two NEDs 
constituting a quorum.

Management and Operations 
(“ExCo”) 
The ExCo, chaired by the Bank’s CEO, 
is a delegated committee of the Board 
responsible for providing direction, 
monitoring performance and ensuring 
the Bank has capabilities, resources, and 
effective controls to deliver its Business 
Plan. The ExCo has nine members, two 
of whom are Executive Directors. The 
ExCo consists of individuals responsible 
for the key components of the business; 
Finance, Operations, Savings, Mortgages, 
Development Finance, People, Marketing 
and Risk Management. Either the CEO 
or the Managing Director is required 
in attendance as one of four members 
needed to constitute a quorum.

Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee 
The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee, is a delegated committee 
of the Board responsible for exercising 
appropriate oversight of the Bank’s 
remuneration policy and talent 
management policies such as those 
relating to performance, development 
and succession planning and Board 
appointments. The Committee convenes 
twice a year, as and when needed. The 
Remuneration element of the Committee 
is chaired by Anne Gunther whilst the 
Nomination element is chaired by Peter 
Harrison. The Committee is composed  
of all NEDs with two NEDs constituting  
a quorum.

Attendance at Board and Committee 
Meetings from 1st May 2016 to 30th 
April 2017

Although not a member of the Board, 
Lisa Nowell, the Chief Risk Officer, is 
required to attend Board meetings and 
the Risk, Audit, Conduct and Compliance 
Committee meetings. Her attendance 
and that of the directors at the Board and 
Board Delegated Committee meetings are  
shown below:

Sub Committees
A number of sub-committees have been 
established which report into the  
ExCo and Risk, Audit, Conduct and 
Compliance Committee. 

The Credit Committee is chaired by the 
Bank’s CEO and determines, on behalf of 
the Board, the general credit policy of the 
Bank. It oversees loan performance, large 
exposures, and adequacy of provisions. 
Its role is to ensure that credit policy is 
prudent, taking into account changing 
market trends. The Credit Committee 
consists of individuals responsible for 
the key components of the business; and 
functions such as risk management  
and finance. 

The Asset and Liability Management 
Committee (ALCO) is chaired by the 
Bank’s Managing Director and manages 
the assets and liabilities of the Bank and 

sets out the Bank’s policies in respect 
of interest rate and liquidity risk. It is 
responsible for determining the Bank’s 
strategy in respect of its balance sheet 
assets, capital, and funding and liquidity 
profiles. It is also responsible for 
reviewing, discussing, and challenging 
the ILAAP.

The Product Committee is chaired by  
the Bank’s Managing Director and 
oversees the product portfolio in line 
with the Bank’s conduct risk appetite and 
Business Plan.

The IT Steering Committee is chaired 
by the Chief Operating Officer and is 
responsible for IT enabled investment, 
ensures oversight of IT plans and 
expenditure, agrees IT standards to be 
adopted, monitors detailed performance 
metrics, and reviews IT incidents and 
associated actions. 

The Executive Risk Conduct and 
Compliance Committee is chaired by 
the Chief Risk Officer and has overall 
responsibility for the risk management 
framework, operational risks, compliance 
risks and reputational risks. It is also 
responsible for reviewing, discussing, and 
challenging the ICAAP.

The NEDs are encouraged to attend any 
executive committees.

 

Board of 
Directors

Risk, Audit, Conduct 
and Compliance 

Committee

Remuneration and  
Nomination 
Committee

Meetings held 16 4 5

Attendance

A Bloom 16/16 3/4 n/a

A Gunther 16/16 4/4 5/5

A Machin 9/9 4/4 4/5

J Hall 16/16 3/4 n/a

L Nowell 15/16 4/4 1/1

M Baker 14/16 4/4 4/5

P Harrison 16/16 4/4 5/5
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I am pleased to present the first Audit Committee report following the 
launch of the Bank for the year ended 30 April 2017.

The three members of the Audit Committee are all independent 
Non-Executive Directors and bring a range of relevant business 
experience. We maintain a close relationship with the Risk 
Committee as there are topics of mutual interest, although with 
different areas of focus.

The Bank has continued to pursue its growth model following its 
launch in November 2016 and this has resulted in an increase in work 
and focus for the Audit Committee over the last year. The Committee 
spent a significant amount of time in the year considering significant 
issues and areas of judgement as set out in the report below. 

This is in addition to developing and monitoring the Internal Audit 
Plan. In developing the Internal Audit Plan, we have ensured 
inclusion of those areas most impacted by continued growth.

The Audit Committee met four times in the year ended 30 April 2017 
and, following each meeting, I provided a verbal update to the Board 
on key issues and, where necessary, outlined the actions being taken 
by management to address any issues raised. The minutes are also 
included in the next Board pack.

Anne Gunther 
Chair

Composition and Membership
The Audit Committee is required to meet at least four times per year, with meetings 
scheduled at appropriate intervals in the reporting and audit cycle. Additional 
meetings are held as required. In the year ended 30 April 2017 there were four 
meetings held, reflecting the workload of the Committee during the year. 

The Audit Committee currently comprises the following three independent  
Non-Executive Directors:

Audit Committee Report

Members Number of meetings attended

Anne Gunther (Chair) 4/4
Ashley Machin 4/4

Michael Baker 4/4

Only members of the Committee have 
the right to attend meetings, however 
standing invitations are extended to 
the Executive Directors and Chief Risk 
Officer, all of whom attend meetings as a 
matter of practice. Other non-members 
may be invited to attend all or part of any 
meeting as and when appropriate. The 
Company Secretary acts as Secretary to 
the Committee. The internal and external 
auditors attend all meetings and also meet 
in private with the Committee on each 
occasion. Taken as a whole, the Committee 
has an appropriate balance of skills, 
including recent and relevant  
financial experience.

Role 
The primary role of the Committee is 
to assist the Board in overseeing the 
effectiveness of the internal control 
systems and the work of the internal 
and external Auditors and to review 
the integrity of the financial reporting 
for the Bank. The Committee’s specific 
responsibilities are set out in its terms  
of reference, which are reviewed at  
least annually. 

Key Responsibilities
External Audit

  Recommend the appointment, 
reappointment or removal of the 
external auditor.

  Oversee the relationship, approve 
terms of engagement and review 
independence and objectivity.

  Meet regularly without management 
present.

  Develop policy on the supply of non-
audit services.

  Ensure the audit contract is tendered 
at least every ten years.

Internal Audit

  Approve appointment or termination 
of the Internal Audit function.

  Monitor and review effectiveness.

  Review and approve the Internal  
Audit charter.

  Review and assess the Internal  
Audit plan.

  Ensure access to the Board and 
Committee Chairs.

  Review management’s responsiveness 
to findings.
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Financial and narrative reporting

  Monitor the integrity of the financial 
statements.

  Review and report to the Board  
on significant financial issues  
and judgements.

  Review and challenge accounting 
policies, methods used to account for 
significant or unusual transactions, 
clarity and completeness of 
disclosure.

  Where requested by the Board, advise 
whether the Annual Report is fair, 
balanced and understandable.

  Review and approval of Pillar  
3 disclosures.

Compliance, whistleblowing and fraud

  Review the adequacy and security of 
whistleblowing arrangements.

  Review procedures for detecting 
fraud and preventing bribery.

  Review regular reports from the 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
and the adequacy and effectiveness  
of anti-money laundering systems  
and controls.

  Review the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the compliance 
function and Conduct Risk 
Framework.

Internal controls and risk management

  Monitor and review the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Bank’s 
internal financial controls and risk 
management systems.

  Review and approve the statements 
in the Annual Report concerning 
internal controls and risk 
management.

Activity During 2017
The principal activities undertaken by  
the Committee during the year are 
described below.

Significant issues and areas of 
judgement considered by the Committee 

In respect of financial reporting, the 
Audit Committee considered a number of 
significant issues and areas of accounting 
judgement in relation to the 2017 Annual 
Report and Accounts.

Loan book impairments 

Determining the appropriateness of loan 
loss provision is inherently judgemental 
and requires management to make a 
number of assumptions. It involves 
estimates of expected future cash flows 
based on both the likelihood of a loan 
and advance being written off and the 
estimated loss on such a write-off. Based 
on the performance of the loan portfolios, 
no impairment provision or collective 
provisioning is considered necessary in 
the statutory accounts for the year ended 
30 April 2017.

The Committee received and challenged 
reports from management explaining  
the approach taken to provisioning.  
The Committee is satisfied that the 
approach taken and judgements made 
were reasonable.

Loan book acquisition accounting and 
income recognition

Acquired loan books are initially 
recognised at cost. Significant judgement 
is required in calculating their effective 
interest rate (EIR), using cash flow models 
which include assumptions on the likely 
macroeconomic environment, including 
unemployment levels and interest rates,  
as well as loan level and portfolio 
attributes and history used to derive 
prepayment rates, the probability and 
timing of defaults and the amount of 
incurred losses. 

The Committee reviewed and challenged 
reports from management on the 
approach taken. The Committee is 
satisfied that the approach taken and 
judgements made were reasonable.

Effective interest rate 

The EIR method of accounting for income 
recognition requires management to make 
a number of assumptions. In particular, 
management must make a significant 
judgement around the estimation of 
the expected life of loan assets across 
the Banks’ portfolios. The Committee 
reviewed and challenged the assumptions 
used in EIR calculations. Based on this 
work, the Committee is satisfied that the 
approach taken and judgements made 
were reasonable. 

Deferred tax asset 

The recoverability of the deferred tax 
asset requires consideration of the future 
levels of taxable profit in the Bank.

The Committee considered the recognition 
of the deferred tax asset, in particular the 
five-year financial plan including timing 
over which the taxable profits will be 
available for the deferred tax asset to be 
realised. The Committee agrees with the 
management judgement that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to utilise 
the tax losses carried forward in full and 
therefore the entire asset is considered to 
be recoverable. 

Share-based payments 

Share-based payments are material by 
nature and determination of the fair 
value of share-based payments awarded 
to Directors and employees of the Bank 
requires management to make a number 
of judgements. A total charge of £1,211 
in relation to share-based payments was 
reflected in the income statement during 
the year.

The Committee considered the accounting 
for the share plan, including the 
methodology used to calculate the fair 
value of the options granted and the 
key inputs and assumptions used in the 
valuation model to calculate the charge. 
The Committee considered sensitivities of 
key assumptions and was satisfied with 
the judgements applied in calculating 
fair values of the options granted. The 
disclosures relating to share-based 
payments are set out in notes 1.15 and 3.6 
to the financial statements. 

Further details of the above significant 
areas of judgment can be found in Note 2 
to the financial statements.
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Fair, balanced and understandable

The Committee considered on behalf 
of the Board whether the 2017 Annual 
Report and financial statements 
taken as a whole are fair, balanced 
and understandable, and whether 
the disclosures are appropriate. 
The Committee reviewed the Bank’s 
procedures around the preparation, 
review and challenge of the Report and 
the consistency of the narrative sections 
with the financial statements and the 
use of alternative performance measures 
and associated disclosures. Following 
its review, the Committee is satisfied 
that the Annual Report is fair, balanced 
and understandable, and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders 
and other stakeholders to assess the 
Bank’s position and performance, 
business model and strategy, and has 
advised the Board accordingly.

Internal Audit 

The Bank’s Internal Audit function plays 
a key role in providing independent 
assessment and challenge of governance, 
risk and control. The Audit Committee 
approved the Internal Audit Plan in 
October 2016 and considered the results  
of its work. 

The Internal Audit Plan was developed, 
based on a prioritisation of the audit 
universe using a risk-based methodology, 
including input from senior management 
and the Committee. A written report is 
prepared following the conclusion of each 
internal audit engagement and distributed 
to the Committee and senior management. 
Responsibility for ensuring appropriate 
corrective action is taken lies with 
management. The Internal Audit function 
will follow-up on engagement findings 
and recommendations until remedial 
action is completed.

Systems of internal control and  
risk management

Details of the risk management 
framework are provided on pages 7 to 17 
of the financial statements. In considering 
the effectiveness of the internal controls, 
the Audit Committee received and 
discussed reports from Internal Audit 
and the external Auditors. In addition, 
executive management were invited to 
discuss the more significant issues raised 
by Internal Audit. Management action 
plans to resolve the issues raised are 
monitored by the Audit Committee.

Recommendations for improvements to 
internal controls by the external auditors 
are monitored by Internal Audit and 
progress reported to the Audit Committee.

External auditor

The Committee is responsible for 
overseeing the Bank’s relationship with 
its external auditor, KPMG LLP (‘KPMG’). 
This includes the ongoing assessment 
of the auditor’s independence and the 
effectiveness of the external audit 
process, the results of which inform the 
Committee’s recommendation to the Board 
as to the auditor’s appointment (subject to 
shareholder approval) or otherwise.

Appointment and Tenure

KPMG was appointed as the first external 
auditor of the Bank for the period ended 
30 April 2016. 

New EU legislation adopted by the UK 
in 2016 sets a maximum audit tenure of 
20 years and also requires a tender at 
least every ten years. The new legislation 
is effective for financial periods 
commencing on or after 17 June 2016. The 
Bank therefore intends to put the external 
audit contract out for tender no later than 
for the 2026 financial year. 

Effectiveness

The Committee assesses the effectiveness 
of the external audit function on an 
annual basis through a number of steps 
including:

  Agreement of their engagement letter 
and fees;

  A review of the external audit plan, 
including the experience of the audit 
team assigned;

  An evaluation of the reports issued 
following inspections of KPMG by the 
Financial Reporting Council’s Audit 
Quality Review team;

  A review of the clarity and 
thoroughness of KPMG’s written 
reports and contribution to Audit 
Committee discussions; and,

  A review of non-audit fees to confirm 
compliance with the Non-Audit 
Services Policy.

Following its review of the 2017 external 
audit process, the Audit Committee 
concluded that it was effective. 

Prohibited Services Permitted Services

Book-keeping or other services related to the 
accounting records or financial statements

General accounting advice on the application 
of FRS 102 and training support

Financial information systems design and 
implementation

Tax compliance and advice

Appraisal or valuation services, fairness 
opinions or contribution-in-kind reports

Transaction related services, including 
acquisition due diligence and tax and 
accounting advice

Actuarial services Other audit-related services; interim  
profit verification; half year review;  
comfort letters

Management functions or human resources Such other activities as may be agreed by the 
Committee from time to time

Broker, dealer, investment adviser or 
investment banking services

Legal services and expert services unrelated 
to the audit

Executive selection and recruitment

Seconding employees to key management 
positions

Tax assignments where fees are contingent 
and material and/or dependent on uncertain 
tax law and audit judgement

Non-audit services
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The engagement of the external auditor 
to provide non-audit services to the 
Bank could impact the assessment of 
its independence and objectivity. The 
Bank has therefore established a policy 
governing the use of the external auditor 
for non-audit services. The policy specifies 
prohibited and permitted services (as 
detailed in the table above) and sets the 
framework within which permitted 
non-audit services may be provided. 
Prohibited services comprise activities 
that are generally perceived to involve  
the auditor making judgements or 
decisions that are the responsibility  
of management. 

The Bank maintains active relationships 
with several other large firms and any 
decision to appoint the external auditor 
is taken in the context of whether their 
understanding of the Bank places them 
in a better position than other firms to 
undertake the work and includes an 
assessment of the cost effectiveness and 
practicality of using an alternative firm.

The fees paid to the external auditor in 
respect of non-audit services during 2017 
totalled £73,000 and were in excess of 
audit fees. The individual services have 
been assessed to ensure that KPMG’s 
independence is not threatened and also 
that the level of non-audit fees when 
compared to audit fees does not result in  
a self-interest independence threat. 

The new EU statutory audit market 
reform legislation adopted in the UK 
includes restrictions on the nature and 
extent of non-audit services provided 
by the statutory auditor. Restrictions 
on the nature of permissible non-audit 
services are effective for financial periods 
commencing on or after 17 June 2016. 
The new legislation also applies a cap on 
permissible non-audit services of 70% 
of the proceeding three year average of 
audit fees. This is applicable for financial 
periods commencing on or after  
17 June 2019.

The Committee’s assessment of the 
external auditor’s independence in 
2017 took into account the non-audit 
services provided during the year, and 
confirmations given by KPMG as to its 
continued independence at various stages 
in the year. 

Nature of service 2017 (£) 2016 (£)

Services related to corporate finance transactions 53 -

Regulatory advice and support 20 -

Total non-audit services 73 -
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The Directors present their report and financial statements  
for the year ended 30 April 2017.

Principal activities
Masthaven Bank Limited is a UK Bank, authorised by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority (PRA) and regulated by the PRA and the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 
The Bank provides short to medium-term property loans for both the development of 
residential dwellings and the bridging of completed properties and property portfolios, 
as well as a regulated second charge mortgage product. All of the lending activities 
are funded by the Bank’s capital base and the provision of a range of fixed period 
deposit products to individuals. The company was incorporated as Masthaven Solutions 
Limited and changed its name to Masthaven Bank Limited on 16th May 2016. The 
company moved offices and changed its registered address to 11 Soho Street, London 
W1D 3AD in June 2016.

Business review and future developments
Information regarding the business review and future developments, key performance 
indicators and principal risks contained in the Strategic Report.

Board composition
The directors who held office during the year were as follows:

The Bank maintains liability insurance cover for Directors and Officers as permitted  
by the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ interest in shares
The interests of directors and their families in the shares of the Bank as at 30 April 2017 
are as follows:

Results for the year
The Bank reported a loss of £5.5m (2016: 
loss £1.3m) for the year. This reflects the 
costs associated with the mobilisation 
work undertaken from April 2016 to 28 
November 2016 forming a strong team 
approaching 100 people, building its 
technology platform and road-testing 
its products with customers, and from 
November operating losses from the bank 
originating savings and loans. 

Proposed dividend
The Directors do not recommend the 
payment of a final dividend (2016: £nil).

Political donations
The Bank did not make any political 
donations or incur any political 
expenditure during the year (2016: £nil).

Research and development 
activities
The Bank does not undertake formal 
research and development activities. 
However, new products and services 
are developed in each of the business 
lines in the ordinary course of business 
in accordance with the Bank’s product 
and pricing governance framework. 
Under this framework, all new products, 
campaigns and business initiatives are 
reviewed and approved by the Bank’s 
Product Committee. In addition to new 
products and services, the Bank also 
invests in internally generated intangible 
assets including computer systems.

Subsequent events
Since the end of the reporting period 
additional share capital of £5 million 
has been injected in the form of non-
redeemable C shares. Subsequent to the 
year end, the Bank adopted new Articles 
of Association. 

Remuneration matters
The Bank adheres to the requirements of 
the Remuneration Code as defined by the 
Regulator. The non-executive directors 
do not receive variable remuneration. 
Information on the Bank’s Remuneration 
Code is set out in the Pillar 3 disclosures 
and will be published on our website 
www.masthaven.co.uk.

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared 
on a going concern basis as the Directors 
have a reasonable expectation that 
the Bank has adequate resources to 
continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. In making this assessment, the 
Directors have considered a wide range of 
information relating to present and future 
conditions including future projections 
of profitability, cash flows and capital 
resources. The Bank has also considered 
a number of stress tests on capital and 
liquidity and these provide assurance that 
the Bank is sufficiently capitalised. For 
this reason, they continue to adopt a going 
concern basis in preparing the Bank’s 
financial statements.

Disclosure of information  
to auditor
The directors who held office at the 
date of approval of this directors’ report 
confirm that so far as each of the directors 
are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Bank’s auditor 
is unaware and the directors have taken 
all the steps that they ought to have taken 
as directors in order to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Bank’s auditor is 
aware of that information.

 Jon Hall 
 Managing  
 Director
 By order of the board  
 Date: 11 August 2017

Directors’ Report

Peter Harrison  Independent Non-Executive Director. Chairman of the 
Board and Chairman of the Nomination element of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Anne Gunther  Independent Non-Executive Director. Chairman of the Board 
Risk Audit Conduct and Compliance Committee. Chairman 
of the Remuneration element of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee

Michael Baker Non-Executive Director

Ashley Machin 
(appointed 1 October 2016) Independent Non-Executive Director

Andrew Bloom Chief Executive Officer

Jon Hall Managing Director

A shares B shares C shares

Andrew Bloom 600,000 60 2,000,000 

Michael Baker 16,667 - -
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, 
the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to 
prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law they have 
elected to prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
and applicable law), including FRS 102 
“The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic  
of Ireland”. 

Under company law the directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
company and of the profit or loss of the 
company for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the directors 
are required to: 

  Select suitable accounting policies 
and then apply them consistently; 

  Make judgements and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; 

  State whether applicable UK 
Accounting Standards have been 
followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and 

  Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to show and explain the 
company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006. They have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably 
open to them to safeguard the assets of the 
company and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information 
included on the company’s website. 
Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities 
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We have audited the financial statements 
of Masthaven Bank Limited for the year 
ended 30 April 2017 set out on pages 37  
to 70. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and UK Accounting 
Standards (UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice), including FRS 
102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic  
of Ireland. 

This report is made solely to the 
company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state 
to the company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the company and 
the company’s members, as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of 
directors and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
Responsibilities Statement set out on page 
31, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit, and express an opinion on, 
the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements 
A description of the scope of an audit of 
financial statements is provided on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

  Give a true and fair view of the state 
of the company’s affairs as at 30 April 
2017 and of its loss for the year then 
ended; 

  Have been properly prepared in 
accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

  Have been prepared in accordance  
with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matters 
prescribed by the Companies  
Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in 
the Strategic Report and the Directors’ 
Report for the financial year is consistent 
with the financial statements. 

Based solely on the work required to be 
undertaken in the course of the audit of 
the financial statements and from reading 
the Strategic report and the Directors’ 
report:

  We have not identified material 
misstatements in those reports; and 

  In our opinion, those reports have 
been prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Companies 
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,  
in our opinion: 

  Adequate accounting records have 
not been kept, or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or 

  The financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records 
and returns; or 

  Certain disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration specified by law are not 
made; or 

  We have not received all the 
information and explanations we 
require for our audit. 

Richard Gabbertas 
(Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP,  
Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants  
15 Canada Square 
London 
E14 5GL

15 August 2017 
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Note
2017 

(£000)
2016 

(£000)

Interest Receivable and Similar Income 3.1 3,027 -

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 3.1 (860) -

Net Interest Income 2,167 -

Other Income 3.2 125 -

Operating Income 2,292 -

Administrative Expenses 3.3 (8,843) (1,596)

Operating Loss Before Tax (6,551) (1,596)

Tax 3.9 1,074 263

Loss Post Tax for The Year (5,477) (1,333)

Other Comprehensive Income

Items That Are or May Be Reclassified to 
Profit or Loss

Net Change in Fair Value of Investment 
Securities – Available for Sale

(3) -

Total Other Comprehensive Income for  
the Year, Attributable to the Owners

(3) -

Total Comprehensive Loss for the Year,  
Net of Tax

(5,480) (1,333)

The above results are derived wholly from continuing operations.

Statement of Total 
Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 11 August 2017  
and were signed on its behalf by: 

Andrew Bloom   Jon Hall
Director     Director

Company registered number: 09660012 

Note
2017 

(£000)
2016 

(£000)

Assets

Loans and Advances to Banks 4.1 16,538 3,000

Loans and Advances to Customers 4.2 155,856 -

Available for Sale Debt Securities 4.3 39,996 -

Other Assets 4.4 837 27

Tangible Fixed Assets 4.5 602 231

Intangible Assets 4.6 3,329 781

Deferred Tax Asset 4.7 1,337 263

Total Assets 218,495 4,302

Liabilities

Customer Deposits 4.8 198,163 -

Other Liabilities 4.9 1,086 2,635

Provisions for Liabilities 4.10 59 -

Total Liabilities 199,308 2,635

Equity

Share Capital 4.11 26,000 3,000

Retained Earnings (6,813) (1,333)

Total Equity  19,187 1,667

Total Equity and Liabilities  218,495  4,302
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Share 
Capital 
(£000)

Retained 
Earnings 

(£000)

Total  
Equity 

(£000)

Balance at 26 June 2015 - - -

Loss for the Period - (1,333) (1,333)

Total Comprehensive Income for  
the Year - (1,333) (1,333)

Issue of Shares 3,000 - 3,000

Total Contributions by Owners 3,000 - 3,000

Balance at 30 April 2016 3,000 (1,333) 1,667

Balance at 1 May 2016 3,000 (1,333) 1,667

Loss for the Year - (5,477) (5,477)

Other Comprehensive Income - (3) (3)

Total Comprehensive Income for  
the Year

- (5,480) (5,480)

Issue of Shares 23,000 - 23,000

Total Contributions by and 
Distributions to Owners 23,000 - 23,000

Balance at 30 April 2017 26,000 (6,813) 19,187

Statement of Changes in Equity

The notes on pages 41 to 70 are an integral part of these financial statements

The notes on pages 41 to 70 are an integral part of these financial statements

Note
2017 

(£000)
2016 

(£000)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

(Loss) Before Tax for the Year (6,551) (1,596)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and Amortisation 417 -

Increase in Provisions 59 -

Share Based Payments 1 -

Changes In:

(Increase) in Loans and Advances to Customers (155,856) -

(Increase) in Other Assets (810) (27)

Increase in Customer Deposits 198,163 -

(Decrease)/Increase in Other Liabilities (1,550) 2,635 

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 33,873 1,012

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (542) (553)

Purchase of Intangible Assets (2,794) (459)

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities  (3,336) (1,012)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from the Issue of Share Capital 23,000 3,000

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 53,537 3,000

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 May 3,000 -

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 30 April 2017 4.1 56,537 3,000

Statement of Cash Flows
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies

 1.1 Reporting entity
   Masthaven Bank Limited (the ‘Bank’) is a company incorporated in the United 

Kingdom under the Companies Act. The address of the registered office is 
11 Soho Street, London W1D 3AD. The nature of the Bank’s operations and 
principal activities are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 3 to 6. 

 1.2 Basis of preparation
   These financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, 

modified to include certain items at fair value in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 (“FRS 102” The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 102”) as issued in August 2014. The 
presentational and functional currency of these financial statements is British 
Sterling. 

 1.3 Going concern
   In common with many financial institutions, the Bank meets its day-to-day 

liquidity requirements through managing its deposit funding sources; it is also 
required to maintain a sufficient buffer over regulatory capital requirements 
in order to continue to be authorised to carry on its business. The Bank’s capital 
and liquidity plans, including stress tests, have been reviewed by the directors. 
The Bank’s forecast and projections, including a range of stress scenarios, show 
that it will be able to operate with adequate levels of both liquidity and capital 
for the foreseeable future.

   Consequently, after making enquiries, the Directors are satisfied that the Bank 
has sufficient resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future and 
have therefore continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements.

 1.4 Financial instruments
   Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities and 
equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of the Bank after deducting all of its liabilities.

  Financial assets and liabilities 
   All of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at 

transaction price (including transaction costs). Financial assets and liabilities 
are only offset in the statement of financial position when there exists a legally 
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Bank intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

   Financial assets are de-recognised when: a) the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expire or are settled; b) the Bank transfers to 
another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset; or c) the Bank, despite having retained some, but not all, of 

the significant risks and rewards of ownership, has transferred control of the 
asset to another party. Financial liabilities are de-recognised only when the 
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

 1.5  Financial assets and financial liabilities
   The Bank initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are 

originated and customer deposits when cash is received from the depositors.  
All other financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially on the 
settlement date, which is the date that the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

  1.5.1 Loans and receivables

     Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These 
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the financial asset. Subsequently, these are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any 
impairment losses. Loans and receivables comprise Loans and Advances 
to Banks and Loans and Advances to Customers.

  1.5.2  Available for sale financial assets

     Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets 
that are designated as available for sale and that are not classified in 
any of the previous categories of financial assets. Subsequent to initial 
recognition they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other 
than impairment losses, are recognised within other comprehensive 
income and presented within equity in the available for sale reserve. On 
disposal, gains and losses recognised previously in equity are transferred 
to the income statement.

  1.5.3 Other financial liabilities

     Customer deposits are non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or 
determinable payments. Deposits are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

  1.5.4 Impairment of financial assets

     On an ongoing basis, the Bank assesses whether there is objective 
evidence that a loan and receivable or available for sale financial asset, or 
group of loans and receivables and available for sale financial assets, is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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     The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence 
of impairment loss include, but are not limited to, the following:

    •  Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest; 

    •  Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

    •  Initiation of bankruptcy/administration proceedings; and

    •  Deterioration in the value of collateral.

     If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
income statement. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate 
for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract.

     If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists 
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it 
includes the asset in a Group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.

     When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision 
for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary 
procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been 
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment  
in the income statement.

     A range of forbearance options is available to support customers who are in 
financial difficulty. The purpose of forbearance is to support customers who 
have temporary financial difficulties and help them get back on their feet. 

     The main options offered by the Bank include:

    • Reduced monthly payment;

    • An arrangement to clear outstanding arrears; 

    • Capitalisation of arrears; and

    • Extension of term.

 1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
   The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets, other than deferred 

tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.

 1.7  Cash and cash equivalents
   For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash  

equivalents comprise loans and advances to banks and building  
societies and short-term highly liquid debt securities with less than  
3 months to maturity. Loans to banks and building societies comprise cash 
balances and call deposits.

 1.8 Intangible assets
   Purchased software and costs directly associated with the internal development 

of computer software are capitalised as intangible assets where the software 
is an identifiable asset controlled by the Bank which will generate future 
economic benefits and where costs can be reliably measured. 

   Amortisation begins when the asset becomes available for operational use and 
is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the software, which is generally between 3 to 5 years. The 
amortisation periods used are reviewed annually. Assets are reviewed for 
impairment at each statement of financial position date or whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not  
be recoverable. 

   Brands acquired by the Bank are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The carrying amount 
of brands is reviewed at least annually to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where impairment exists, the amount is 
recognised in the income statement and cannot be subsequently reversed. 
Brands are amortised on the basis of the expected useful life which is 10 years. 

   Website development costs are capitalised as intangible assets where costs can 
be reliably measured. These costs are amortised on a straight line basis over 
the estimated useful life, which is 3 years. The website is an identifiable asset 
controlled by the Bank which will generate future economic benefits. 

   Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. 

 1.9 Property, plant and equipment
   Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items.

   Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment at the 
following rates:

  • Office equipment hardware 3 to 5 years
  • Leasehold improvements 3 years
  • Furniture 5 years

    Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed  
at each reporting date.
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 1.10 Interest income and expense
    Interest income and expense are recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income for all instruments measured at amortised cost  
using the effective interest rate method.

    The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating the interest 
income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows through 
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank takes into account all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future 
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between 
parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

 1.11  Fees and commission income and expense
    Fees and commissions which are not considered integral to the effective  

interest rate are recognised on an accruals basis when the service has been 
provided or incurred.

 1.12 Operating leases
    Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term, even if the payments are not made on such a basis. Benefits 
received and receivable as an incentive to sign an operating lease are 
similarly spread on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

 1.13 Taxation
    Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax 

is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

    Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable  
income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted  
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years.

    Deferred tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

    A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

 1.14 Pension costs
    The Bank maintains a policy of supporting the defined contribution pension  

schemes of its employees. The amount charged to the profit and loss account 
in respect of pension costs is the value of contributions payable in the year. 
Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions 
actually paid are included within accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

 1.15 Employee share-based payment transactions
    The Bank issues equity-settled share options to certain employees of the Bank. 

Equity-settled share option payments are measured at fair value (excluding 
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair 
value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period, based on the Bank’s estimate of shares that will eventually 
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions. The 
grant date fair value of a share based payment transaction is recognised as an 
employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity over the period that 
the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. In the absence 
of market prices, the fair value of the equity at the date of the acquisition is 
assessed based on the net asset value of the Bank and the option price, and is 
compared to the Black Scholes pricing model.

    The expected life used in the model is based on management’s best estimate, 
which considers non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural 
factors. The volatility measure is also based on management’s best estimate,  
as the shares are unlisted and there is no trading. 

    The amount recognised as an expense in the Income Statement is based on 
amortising the grant date fair value at a constant rate to the vesting date.

 1.16 Business combinations
    Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method as at the 

acquisition date. 

    At the acquisition date, the company recognises goodwill as: 

   •  The fair value of the consideration (excluding contingent consideration) 
transferred; plus 

   • Estimated amount of contingent consideration (see below); plus

   • The fair value of the equity instruments issued; plus

   • Directly attributable transaction costs; less

   •  The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable  
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed.

    When the excess is negative, this is recognised and separately disclosed on the 
face of the balance sheet as negative goodwill. 

    Consideration which is contingent on future events is recognised based on 
the estimated amount if the contingent consideration is probable and can be 
measured reliably. Any subsequent changes to the amount are treated as an 
adjustment to the cost of the acquisition. 
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2.  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying 
Accounting Policies 

  The Bank makes estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The key estimates, assumptions and judgements are set out below:

 2.1 Effective interest rate
   In determining the expected life of loans and receivables assets, the Bank uses 

likely redemption profiles and the anticipated level of early repayment charges. 
The Bank has determined that historic lending experience and industry 
guidance is more appropriate in determining the expected life of the loans 
and receivables rather than the contractual cash flows. At regular intervals 
throughout the year, the expected lives of loans and receivables assets are 
reassessed for reasonableness. Any variation in the expected life of these assets 
will change the carrying value in the statement of financial position and the 
timing of the recognition of interest income.

 2.2 Impairment losses on loans and advances
   The Bank regularly reviews its loan portfolios to assess the level of impairment. 

In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income, the Bank makes judgements as to whether 
there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease 
can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio.

   This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an 
adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or 
local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. 
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with 
similar credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar 
to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.

   The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and 
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences 
between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

 2.3 Deferred tax asset recognition
   The deferred tax asset recognised at 30 April 2017 has been recognised on the 

basis that the Directors believe it is probable that sufficient future taxable 
profits will be generated against which they can be utilised. In arriving at this 
conclusion the Directors have estimated the future profit performance for the 
Bank which is subject to a number of variables. 

 2.4 Loan portfolio acquisitions
   Acquired loan books are initially recognised at fair value. In determining  

the fair value of acquired loan portfolios, the Bank considers the contractual 
cash flows, detailed knowledge of the portfolio and the costs of originating  
such portfolios. 

   Subsequently, they are measured under the effective interest rate method, 
based on cash flows to ensure that models which require significant judgement 
assumptions on the interest rates, prepayment rates, the probability and timing 
of defaults and the amount of incurred losses. Management then review the 
expected cash flows against actual cash flows to ensure future assumptions on 
customer behaviour and future cash flows remain valid.  
If the estimates of the future cash flows are revised, the adjustments to 
the carrying value of the loan books are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

3. Statement of Comprehensive Income Analyses

 3.1 Interest income and expense

 

 Amortisation of the premium on loan book acquisition relates to the amortisation 
in the period of the difference between book value and fair value determined on an 
arm’s length basis by the Bank for the Masthaven Group Limited and Masthaven 
Secured Loans Group Limited loan portfolios. 

 3.2 Other income

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Interest and Similar Income on Loans and Advances to 
Customers

4,024 -

Interest on Investment Securities – Available for Sale 2 -

Amortisation of Fair Value Premium on Loan Book 
Acquisition

(999) -

Total Interest Receivable and Similar Income 3,027 -

Interest on Deposits from Customers (860) -

Total Interest Payable and Similar Charges (860) -

Net Interest Income 2,167 -

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Other Fees Receivable 127 -

Other Fees Payable (2) -

Other Income 125 -



49 Annual Report and Accounts Annual Report and Accounts 50

 3.3 Administration expenses

 3.4 Auditor’s remuneration 

 3.5 Staff numbers and costs
   The average number of persons employed by the Bank (including  

executive directors) during the year was 57 (2016: 5). At the end of the  
year the Bank employed 95 people (2016: 10). 

   The analysis includes both full-time and part-time staff but does not  
include non-executive directors.

   The aggregate payroll costs of these people were as follows: 

 3.6 Employee share-based payment transactions
    During the year, share options were granted to employees and directors under 

the Masthaven Bank Limited Company Share Option Plan (CSOP).

    Share options were granted in accordance with Schedule 4 of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003. In particular, share options were granted 
with an exercise price equal to the market value of the share price on the date 
of grant. The share options ordinarily become exercisable following admission 
of the Bank’s shares on a stock exchange or in the event of a takeover or 
winding up. The share options may lapse in full or in part if a participant ceases 
employment with the Bank prior to exercise.

    The movements in the number of share options outstanding and their weighted 
average exercise prices are as follows:

 

Note
2017 

(£000)
2016 

(£000)

Staff Costs 3.5 3,954 700

Share-based Payments 3.6 1 -

Depreciation and Amortisation 4.5/4.6 417 -

Operating Lease Rentals 3.8 38 -

FSCS Levy 59 -

Other Administrative Expenses 4,374 896

Administrative Expenses 8,843 1,596

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Audit of Financial Statements  55 22

Services Related to Corporate Finance Transactions 53 -

Other Non-audit Services 20 -

Auditor’s Remuneration 128 22

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Wages, Salaries and Performance Related Pay 3,517 619

Social Security Costs 336 77

Pension Costs 82 4

Share Based Payments 1 -

Other Staff Costs 18 -

3,954 700

Number of 
shares

Weighted average 
exercise price

Outstanding at Beginning of the Period 61,333 1p

Granted During the Period 31,315 20p

Forfeited During the Period - -

Exercised During the Period - -

Expired During the Period - -

Outstanding at End of the Period 92,648 7.4p

Exercisable at End of the Period - -
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   No options were exercised during the period. The outstanding share options at 
the end of the period had exercise prices of 1p and 20p.

   The weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding share 
options at the end of the period was 9.04 years.

   The fair values of the share options granted during the period were determined 
using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs to the model 
were as follows:

    The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is 
indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 
The expected volatility has been determined taking into account the historical 
volatility of comparator companies listed on the London Stock Exchange.

    The total charge for the period relating to employee share-based payment  
plans was £1,211, all of which related to equity-settled share-based  
payment transactions. 

 3.7 Directors’ remuneration

    There were no directors to whom retirement benefits were accruing in respect 
of qualifying services during the year (2016: nil).

    During the year to 30 April 2017, the Bank issued nil options over its A shares to 
the directors of the Bank (2016: 33,000). 

    The aggregate of emoluments of the highest paid director was £316k (2016: 
£209k). Pensions attributable to the highest paid director were £28,487 (2016: 
£nil). The director received nil share options in respect of qualifying services 
under the Masthaven Bank Limited Company Share Option Plan (2016: 33,000). 

 3.8 Operating leases
   The Bank moved to a new office in June 2016. A five-year lease with a break  

at three years was signed, generating an operating lease commitment which  
is reflected in the table below.

   Non-cancellable operating lease rentals on land and buildings are  
payable as follows:

Input

Share Price at Date of Grant 67p

Exercise Price 20p

Dividend Yield 0%

Expected Volatility 40%

Risk Free Interest Rate 0.22% to 0.73%

Expected Life 3.76 years to 4.70 years 

Fair Value at Date of Grant 48p to 49p

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Salaries and Performance Related Pay 442 259

Social Security Costs 54 29

Pension Costs 28 -

524 288

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Less than 1 year 459 -

Between 1 and 5 years 498 -

Over 5 years - -

957 -
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 3.9 Tax

  3.9.1 Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

  3.9.2 Tax reconciliation

4. Statement of Financial Position Analyses

 4.1 Loans and advances to banks 

   The table below presents an analysis of loans and advances to banks by rating 
agency designation as at 30 April, based on Moody’s long term ratings:

   None of the loans and advances to banks are either past due or impaired.  
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include the balance above and the Treasury bills of £39,996,000 available  
for sale as per note 4.3.

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Current Tax:

Current Tax on Loss for the Year - -

Deferred Tax:

Origination and Reversal of Temporary Differences 1,276 263

Adjustments in Respect of Prior Periods - -

Effect of Tax Rate Change (202) -

Total Deferred Tax Credit 1,074 263

Total Tax Credit 1,074 263

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Loss for the Year (6,551) (1,596)

Tax Using the UK Corporation Tax Rate  
of 19.92% (2016: 20%)

1,305 319

Permanent non-deductible Expenses (21) (27)

Other Permanent Differences (8) -

Effect of Tax Rate Change (202) (29)

1,074 263

2017 (£000) 2016 (£000)

Placements with Other Banks Included in 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

16,538 3,000

2017 (£000) 2016 (£000)

A1 5,038 3,000

A3 11,500 -

16,538 3,000
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 4.2 Loans and advances to customers
   The above analysis is based on contractual maturity and may not reflect  

actual experience of repayments, since loans can be repaid early.

   During the year the Bank purchased a loan portfolio from Masthaven Secured 
Loans Group Limited and its subsidiaries for a consideration of £40.4m and also 
purchased a loan portfolio from Masthaven Group Limited and its subsidiaries 
for a consideration of £73.6m. These portfolios are included in loans and 
advances to customers at fair value. 

 4.3 Available for sale debt securities

  None of the available for sale debt securities are either past due or impaired.

 4.4 Other assets
 
 
 

 4.5 Property, plant and equipment

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

UK Government gilts and treasury bills 39,996 -

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Prepayments 635 26

Other debtors 202 1

837 27

Computer 
Equipment 

(£000)

Leasehold 
Improvements 

(£000)

Furniture 
(£000)

Total 
(£000)

Cost

At 1 May 2016 183 48 - 231

Additions 311 119 112 542

At 30 April 2017 494 167 112 773

Depreciation

At 1 May 2016 - - - -

Charge for year 105 49 17 171

At 30 April 2017 105 49 17 171

Net book value

At 30 April 2017 389 118 95 602

At 30 April 2016 183 48 - 231

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Loan Receivables 155,856 -

Amounts Falling Due:

- Within One Year 112,469 -

- Over One Year but Less than Five Years 9,677 -

- More than Five Years 33,710 -
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 4.6  Intangible assets  4.7 Deferred tax asset
  Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:

 

  The movement in deferred tax during the year is as follows:

    The deferred tax asset is recognised based on the Bank’s corporate plan which 
projects sufficient future taxable profits to absorb the losses. The deferred tax 
asset at 30 April 2017 has been calculated based on the rate at which the asset is 
expected to be realised.

 4.8 Customer deposits

Software 
(£000)

Website 
Development 

(£000)

Brand 
(£000)

Total 
(£000)

Cost

At 1 May 2016 756 25 - 781

Additions 1,633 261 900 2,794

Disposals (15) - - (15)

At 30 April 2017 2,374 286 900 3,560

Depreciation

At 1 May 2016 - - - -

Charge for the Year 168 36 42 246

Transfer Out (15) - - (15)

At 30 April 2017 153 36 42 231

Net Book Value

At 30 April 2017 2,221 250 858 3,329

At 30 April 2016 756 25 - 781

2017 (£000) 2016 (£000)

Accelerated Capital Allowances - -

Fixed Asset Timing Differences (17) -

Tax Losses Carried Forward and Other Deductions 1,354 263

Deferred Tax Asset 1,337 263

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Balance Bought Forward 263 -

Credit to the Income Statement 1,074 263

Deferred Tax Asset 1,337 263

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

With Agreed Maturity Dates or Periods of Notice by Remaining Maturity:

Not More Than Three Months 82 -

More Than Three Months but not More Than One Year 50,391 -

More Than One Year but not More Than Five Years 147,690 -

198,163 -
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 4.9 Other liabilities

  
 

  Included in other creditors is an amount of £2,123 (2016: £2,512,426) owed to a 
related party, Masthaven Group Limited. This is an interest free loan repayable  
on demand.

 4.10 Provisions

  The levy represents the estimated amount payable under the FSCS for the 2016/2017 
scheme year, which runs from March 2016 to March 2017, and is calculated with 
reference to the protected deposits held. The Bank, in common with all regulated UK 
deposit takers, pays levies to the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS)  
to enable the FSCS to meet claims against it. The FSCS levy consists of two parts  
– a management expenses levy and a compensation levy. The management expenses 
levy covers the costs of running the scheme and the compensation levy covers the 
amount of compensation the scheme pays, net of any recoveries it makes using the 
rights that have been assigned to it.

 

 4.11 Capital and reserves 

 4.11.1 Share capital

    Authorised, issued and fully paid

    During the year the Bank issued 23,000,000 C shares of £1 each for cash  
at par value.

    A and B class ordinary shares and C shares are non-redeemable and have 
attached to them full dividend and capital distribution (including on winding 
up) rights. The A Ordinary shares carry full voting rights. The B Ordinary 
shares and C shares carry no voting rights. 

 4.12 Financial instruments
    Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are based on quoted 

market prices. If the market is not active the Bank establishes a fair value by 
using appropriate valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s 
length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially 
the same for which market observable prices exist, net present value and 
discounted cash flow analysis. The objective of valuation techniques is to 
determine the fair value of the financial instrument at the reporting date as 
the price that would have been agreed between active market participants in 
an arm’s length transaction.

    The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, 
which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements.

   •  Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical instruments.

   •  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for 
identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than 
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are 
directly or indirectly observable from market data.

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

Other Taxation and Social Security 237 43

Other Creditors 73 2,556

Accruals 776 36

Other Liabilities 1,086 2,635

2017 
(£000)

2016 
(£000)

FSCS Levy - -

At 1 May - -

Provided During the Year 59 -

59 -

2017 (£) 2016 (£)

1,000,000 A Ordinary Shares of £0.0001 Each                                                                                100 100

100 B Ordinary Shares of £0.01 Each 1 1

26,000,000 C Shares of £1 Each 26,000,000 3,000,000

On Issue at 30 April 26,000,101 3,000,101
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   •  Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all 
instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based 
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect 
on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that 
are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to 
reflect differences between the instruments.

    4.12.1 Debt securities available for sale 

       The fair value of Debt Securities Available for Sale is determined 
by reference to their quoted bid price at the reporting date.  
These have been measured according to level 1 inputs.

    4.12.2 Loans and advances 

       Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the reporting date, adjusted for future credit losses 
if considered material. These have been measured according to 
level 3 inputs.

    4.12.3 Deposits 

        Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the reporting date. These have been measured 
according to level 3 inputs.

        The fair values of all financial assets and financial liabilities 
by class together with their carrying amounts shown in the 
statement of financial position are shown in the following table. 
The Bank has assessed fair value to be equivalent to carrying 
value as the Bank’s interest rates on lending and savings products 
are considered equivalent to current market product rates. 
Customer deposits were recently originated and subsequent 
interest rate movements have been insignificant. No credit losses 
have been incurred on the Bank’s loan portfolios. 

At 30 April 2017 Level 1 
(£000)

Level 2 
(£000)

Level 3 
(£000)

Total 
(£000)

Fair value 
(£000)

Assets

Loans and Advances to Banks 16,538 - - 16,538 16,538

Available for Sale Debt Securities 39,996 - - 39,996 39,996

Loans and Advances to Customers - - 155,856 155,856 155,856

56,534 - 155,856 212,390 212,390

Liabilities

Customer Deposits - - 198,163 198,163 198,163

Total Liabilities - - 198,163 198,163 198,163

At 30 April 2016

Assets

Loans and Advances to Banks 3,000 - - 3,000 3,000

Total Assets 3,000 - - 3,000 3,000
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5. Other Analyses

 5.1 Risk management
   The main areas of financial risk that the business is exposed to are:

  • Credit risk;

  • Liquidity risk;

  • Market risk; and

  • Capital risk and management; 

  5.1.1 Credit risk

     Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or 
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been 
incurred at the statement of financial position date.

    The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     Fair value of security against Loans and Advances to Customers is £349m 

in the form of land, residential and commercial property. In addition to 
this collateral, the Bank also holds other types of collateral and credit 
enhancements such as personal guarantees and second charges.

     Contractual loan commitments represent agreements entered into but not 
advanced at 30 April 2017. 

     Loans and advances to customers are reviewed regularly to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment:

    •  Individual impairment is assessed where specific circumstances 
indicate that a loss is likely to be incurred.

    •  Collective impairment allowances are calculated for each portfolio 
given the homogenous nature of the assets in the portfolio.

     The directors have considered that no impairment provision is required 
on these loans as at 30 April 2017.

     The past due loans are subject to close oversight. In the main they relate 
to transactions that have reached maturity and the Bank has decided not 
to extend, although the loan to value remains such that no impairment 
provision is required.

      The Bank maintains a forbearance policy for the servicing and 
management of customers who are in financial difficulty and require 
some form of concession to be granted, even if this concession entails 
a loss for the Bank. As at 30 April 2017, loans for which forbearance 
measures were undertaken totalled £233,269 as at 30 April 2017 (2016: 
£nil) and represented nine customers who has special repayment plans 
agreed for them. All forbearance measures undertaken in the year were 
within the mortgage portfolio.

2017 (£000)

Loans and Advances to Banks 16,538

Loans and Advances to Customers 155,856

Available for Sale Debt Securities 39,996

Other Assets 837

213,227

Contractual Loan Commitments 9,969

Total Credit Risk 223,196

Distribution of Loans and 
Advances by Credit Quality

At 30 April 2017 At 30 April 2016

Loans and 
Advances to 

Customers 
(£000)

Loans and 
Advances to 

Banks (£000)

Loans and 
Advances to 

Customers 
(£000)

Loans and 
Advances to 

Banks (£000)

Neither Past due nor Impaired 147,082 16,538 - 3,000

Past Due but not Impaired: - - - -

Loans and Receivables at Amortised Cost:

- Less than Three Months 5,970 - - -

- Three to Twelve Months 1,926 - - -

- One to Five Years 878 - -

Impaired - - - -

Less: Provision - - - -

155,856 16,538 - 3,000
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     Concentration of credit risk

     The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector, size and by 
geographical location. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk from 
loans and advances, investment securities, financial guarantees and 
contractual commitments is shown below.

 The concentration by location of loans and advances to customers is shown below.

 
 
 
 

  5.1.2 Liquidity risk

     Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will not be able to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due.

     The table below analyses remaining contractual maturity undiscounted 
cash flows of non-derivative assets and liabilities. 

At 30 April 2017 Carrying 
Value 

(£000)

Net Inflow/ 
(Outflow) 

(£000)

Up to 1 
Month 
(£000)

1 to 3 
Months 

(£000)

3 to 12 
Months 

(£000)

1 to 5 
Years 
(£000)

Assets

Loans and Advances 
to Banks

16,538 16,538 16,538 - - -

Loans and Advances 
to Customers

155,856 162,834 32,591 11,969 74,250 44,024

Available for Sale 
Debt Securities

39,996 39,996 2,000 37,996 - -

Total 212,390 219,368 51,129 49,965 74,250 44,024

Liabilities

Customer Deposits (198,163) (204,828) (2) (80) (52,192) (152,554)

Total (198,163) (204,828) (2) (80) (52,192) (152,554)

At 30 April 2016

Assets

Loans and Advances 
to banks

3,000 3,000 3,000 - - -

Total 3,000 3,000 3,000 - - -

Carrying 
Value

Concentration by Sector:

Banks Retail Corporate Government

2017 
(£000)

2017 
(£000)

2017 
(£000)

2017 
(£000)

2017 
(£000)

Loans and Advances to Banks 16,538 16,538 - - -

Loans and Advances to Customers 155,856 - 145,546 10,310 -

Available for Sale Debt Securities 39,996 - - - 39,996

Contractual Loan Commitments 9,969 - 9,969 - -

Total 222,359 16,538 155,515 10,310 39,996

Concentration by location

Loans and Advances 
to Customers

2017 (£000)

East Anglia 3,903

East Midlands 7,547

Greater London and South East 92,800

North East 3,847

North West 6,122

Scotland 5,840

South West 27,599

Wales 2,274

West Midlands 4,660

Yorkshire and Humberside 1,264

At 30 April 2017 155,856
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  5.1.3 Market risk

     Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Bank’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Bank 
does not engage in any trading operations and does not have any foreign 
currency exposure.

     (a) Interest rate risk 
  Interest rate risk is the potential adverse impact on the Bank’s 

future cash flows from changes in interest rates and arises from the 
differing interest rate risk characteristics of the Bank’s assets and 
liabilities. In particular, fixed rate products expose the Bank to the 
risk that a change in interest rates could cause either a reduction in 
interest income or an increase in interest expense relative to variable 
rate interest flows.

     The Bank manages and controls interest rate risk through match funding 
and its hedging strategy. Interest rate exposure is managed by ALCO on a 
monthly basis and it operates within pre-agreed limits.

     (b) Interest rate sensitivity gap 
  The Bank considers a parallel 200 basis points movement to be 

appropriate for scenario testing given the current economic outlook 
and industry expectations. The change in equity as a result would  
be as follows: 

     The table below gives an analysis of the re-pricing periods of assets and 
liabilities. Mismatches in the re-pricing timing of assets and liabilities 
creates interest rate risk. Items are allocated to time bands by reference 
to the earlier of the next contractual interest rate repricing date and the 
residual maturity date.

At 30 April 2017 1 to 3 
Months 

(£000)

3 to 12 
Months 

(£000)

1 to 5 
Years 
(£000)

Non-Interest 
Bearing 

(£000)

Total 
(£000)

Assets

Loans and Advances 
to Banks

- - - 16,538 16,538

Available for Sale 
Debt Securities

39,996 - - - 39,996

Loans and Advances 
to Customers 

54,829 89,440 11,587 - 155,856

Other Assets - - - 837 837

Total Assets 94,825 89,440 11,587 17,375 213,227

Liabilities

Customer Deposits 82 50,391 147,691 - 198,164

Non-Interest 
bearing liabilities

- - - 1,086 1,086

Equity - - - 19,187 19,187

Total Liabilities 82 50,391 147,691 20,273 218,437

Interest Rate 
Sensitivity Gap

94,743 39,049 (136,104) (2,898)

Cumulative Gap 94,743 133,792 (2,312) (5,210)

At 30 April 2016

Assets

Loans and Advances 
to banks

- - - 3,000 3,000

Other Assets - - - 27 27

Total Assets - - - 3,027 3,027

Liabilities

Non-Interest 
bearing liabilities

- - - 2,635 2,635

Equity - - - 1,667 1,667

Total Liabilities - - - 4,302 4,302

Interest Rate 
sensitivity gap

- - - (1,275)

Cumulative Gap - - - (1,275)

(£000)

NPV Sensitivity + 200 bps 2,345

NPV Sensitivity – 200 bps (2,594)
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  5.1.4 Capital management

     The following shows the regulatory capital resources managed  
by the Bank:

     The Bank has operated in line with its capital risk appetite as set by the 
Board and above its regulatory requirements throughout the year ended 
30 April 2017. 

     Our Capital Planning and Management policy establishes a framework for 
maintaining our current and prospective capital at an appropriate level 
under various scenarios. The policy describes the process for establishing 
the Bank’s capital risk appetite that is approved by the Board and 
reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently if required.

     We monitor current and forecast levels of capital against the capital risk 
appetite approved by the Board and report the capital position to ALCO, 
the Executive Risk Committee, Board Risk Committee and the Board on 
a regular basis. The capital forecast forms an integral component of the 
annual budgeting process and is updated in line with changes to our 
business plan. The capital forecast incorporates the impact of known 
forthcoming regulatory changes to ensure we are well positioned to meet 
when implemented. 

 5.2 Acquisition of businesses
   During the year the Bank acquired the trade, assets, brand and loan portfolios 

of Masthaven Group Limited and Masthaven Secured Loans Group Limited. The 
total consideration paid was £115m. The acquisition included £0.1m paid for the 
computer equipment and £0.9m for the Masthaven brand. The value of the loan 
book and loan pipeline purchased was £114m.

   The acquisition resulted in additional turnover of £2.6m and additional gross 
profit of £2.1m being generated in the year.

 5.3 Related party transactions
   Related parties of the Bank include Key Management Personnel, close family 

members of Key Management Personnel and entities which are controlled, 
jointly controlled or significantly influenced, or for which significant voting 
power is held, by Key Management Personnel or their close family members. 
Key Management Personnel are defined as the Directors.

  

   The compensation of the directors is provided in note 3.7.

   Four directors held deposits with the Bank as at 30 April 2017 amounting to 
£137,508 (2016: £nil).

   An interest free loan of £5,579,942 (2016: £2,510,875) was provided to the Bank  
by Masthaven Group Limited during the period (not a parent company). As at  
30 April 2017, the Bank owed Masthaven Group Limited £2,123. 

   During the year, Masthaven Bank Limited purchased the brand, trade, assets 
and loan portfolios of Masthaven Group Limited and its subsidiaries and 
Masthaven Secured Loans Group Limited and its subsidiaries for a total 
consideration of £115m.

   During the year, Masthaven Group Limited recharged shared premises costs of 
£295,293 (2016: £nil) to the Bank. During the year, the Bank recharged staff costs 
of £565,428 (£2016: £nil) and £55,799 (2016: £nil) to Masthaven Group Limited 
and Masthaven Secured Loans Group Limited respectively. As at 30 April 2017, 
the Bank owed Masthaven Secured Loans Group Limited £196,722. 

   Masthaven Group Limited and Masthaven Secured Loans Group Limited 
are controlled by AJ Bloom who is a shareholder and director of Masthaven 
Bank Limited. MT Baker is also a director of Masthaven Group Limited and 
Masthaven Secured Loans Group Limited.

 5.4 Commitments

   Commitments to lend comprise lending approvals subject to conditional 
performance undertakings by customers. These can be cancelled if the customer 
is in breach of the terms and conditions of their facilities. Property development 
facilities may only be drawn subject to certification of construction work by 
independent parties.

 5.5 Subsequent events
   Since the end of the reporting period additional share capital of £5 million has 

been injected in the form of non-redeemable C shares. Subsequent to the year 
end, the Bank adopted new Articles of Association. 

 5.6 Comparative period
   The comparative figures in these financial statements are for the period from  

26 June 2015 to 30 April 2016.

(£000)

Share Capital 26,000

Retained Earnings (6,813)

Intangible Assets (3,329)

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 15,858

Tier 2 Capital -

Total Regulatory Capital 15,858

2017 (£000) 2016 (£000)

Conditional Commitments to Lend 9,969 -     


